UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT |
 WESTERN DISTRICT OF VIRGINTA
ROANOKE DIVISION
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
v | i Criminal No. 7:06CR00098

HAROLD FRANKLIN CASSELL,

PLEA AGREEMENT

L HAROLD FRANKILIN CASSELL, and my counsel, John E. Tichtenstein, Esquire
and John P. Fishwick, Jr. Esquire, have entered into a plea agreement with the United States
of America, by counsel, pursuant to Rule 11 of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure. The
terms and conditions of this agreement are as follows: '

1. CHARGES IN THE INDICTMENT AND PUNISHMENT
The defendant has been charged with five (5) counts in Incictment No. 7:06CR0008S.

Count Seven of the Indictment charges that on or about February 24, 2006, in the Western
Judicial District of Virgjnié, Harold Franklin Cassell, with the intent to conceal and disgliise
the nature and source of property beliéved to be the proceeds of specified unlawful activity,
did knowingly and willfully attempt to-conduct a financial fransaction affecting interstate
comnerce mvoiving property represented to be the proceeds of specified unlawful activity -
by another person at the direction of, and with the approval of, a federal official authorized
to mvestigate violations of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1956, to wit: Harcld
Frankiin Cassell attempted to establish & means of giving drug proceeds the appearance of
legitimacy by cosigning a loan for a person who possessed approximately $10,000 in cash
represented to be drug proceeds and then couriseling the individual to deposit small amounts
of the cash into a checking account to pay off the loan, all in viclation of Title 18, United
States Code, Section1956(a)}(3)XB). The maximum statutory penalty for Count Seven is a
~ fine of $250,000 and twenty (20) years imprisonment, and a period of supervised release.

Count Eight of the Indictinent charges that from in or about Ootober, 2005, until in or about
April, 2006, in the Western Judicial District of Virginia, Harold Franklin Cassell corruptly
atternpted to obstruct, influence and impede an official proceeding; that is, investigations by
the Federa] Bureau of Investigation, the Drug Enforcement Administration and the Federal
Grand Jury, in that Harold Franklin Cassell, among other things, counseled an individual on
methods of disguising and conceagling monies obtained through embezzlement and illegal
drug distribution; agrsei { _.’. individual never to mention the existence of monies
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derived from illegal drug distribution; made false statements 1o and aliernpted to mislead a
Special Agent of the Federal Bureaun of Investigation with respect to Harold Franklin
Cassell’s knowledge. of money represenied to have been derived by an individual of the
Henry County Sheriffs Office through dlegal means; and, made false statements to and
aftempted to mislead a Special Agent of the Federal Burean of Investigation with respectto
Harold Franklin Cassell’s knowledge of an individual’s ilegal drug activities, said faise
statements-were contained in a written report that was used during the federal mvestigation,
all in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section1512(c)(2). The maximum statutory
penaity for Count Eight is a five of $250,000 and twenty (20) years mprisonment, and &
period of supervised release. ' ' :

Count Nine of the Indictment charges that from in or about Oetober 2005 until in or about
April 2006, in the Western Judicial District of Virginia, defendant Harold Franklin Casseil
did corruptly endeavor to influence, obstruct and mpede the due and proper administration -
of the law involving a pending proceeding by an agency of the United States; that is,
investigations by the Federal Bureau' of Investigation and the Drug Enforcement
- Administration, in that Harold Franklin Casse]l, amang other things, counseled an individual
onmethods of disguising and concealing monies obtained through embezzlement and illegal-
 drug distribution; agreeing with an individual never to mention the existence of monies
derived from illegal drug distribution; made false statements to and affempted to mislead a
Special Agent of the Federal Bureau of Investigation with respect to Harold Franklin
Cassell’s knowledge of moeney represented to have been derived by an individual of the
Henry County Sheriff’s Office through iflegal means; and, made false statements to and-
atternpted to mislead a Special Agent of the Federal Bureau of Investigation with respect to
Harold Franklin Cassell’s knowledge of anindividual’s ille gal drug activities, all in violation
~ of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1505. The maximum statutory penalty for Count
Nine is a fine of $250,000 and 5 (3) year imprisonment, and a period of supervised release.

Count Ten of the Indictment charges that on or about March 22, 2006, in the Western
- Judicial District of Virginia, in a matter within the Jurisdiction of the Federal Bureau of
Investigation, Harold Franklin Cassell knowingly and willfully made a false material
statement and representation to a Special Agent of the Federal Bureau of Investigation, in
- that Harold Franklin Cassell stated that he had no kncwledge of money represented to have
‘been derived by an individual of the Henry County Sheriff’s Office through illegal means,
andthathe hadno knowledge of an individual’s illegal drug activities, when in truth and fact,
. as Harold Franklin Cassell well knew, he did possess such knowledge, all in violation of
Title 18, United States Code, Section 1001{2)(2). The maximum statutory penalty for Count

Tenisafine 0£3250,000 and five (5) years imprisonment, and a period of supervised release.
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Count Eleven of the Indictment charges that on or about March 22, 2006, in the Western
Judicial District of Virginia, the defendant, Harold Franklin Cass eli, having knowledge of
the actial commission of a felony cognizable by a court of the United States; to wit, that
James Alden Vaught had been involved ina conspiracy to violate the drug laws of the United
States, did conceal the same by telling investigators that he did not believe Vaught was so
involved, and did not as soon as possible make known the same 1o some Judge or other
person 1 civil or hjilita:ry authority under the United States, all in violation of Title 18,
- United States Code, Section 4. ' - .

The defendant understands that his supervised release may be revoked if he violates
its terms and conditions. Ifthe defendant’s supervised release is revoked, the original term
of imprisonment may be increased §The defendant understands that aviolation of supervised
release increases the possible period of incarceration. '

2. CHARGES TO WHICH THE DEFENDANT IS PLEADING GUILTY
 AND WAIVER OF RIGHTS . | -

The defendant will énter a plea of guiltyto:

Count Ten ofthe Indiotment charges that on or about March 22,2006, inthe Westermn
Judicial District of Virginia, in a matter within the jurisdiction of the Federal Bureay of
' Invesﬁgation, Harold Franklin Cassell knowingly and Wi—ﬂﬁﬂly made a false material

statement and rép:resentatiqn to d Special Agent of the Federal Bureau of Investigation, in
that Harold Franklin Cassell stated that he had no knowledge of money represented to have
been derived by an individual of the ITenry County Sheriff’s Office through illegal means,
and thathe had no knowledge of an individual’s illegal drug activities, when in truth and fact,
-as Harold Franklin Cassell well knew, he did possess guch kilowledge, all in violation of
- Title 18, United States Code, Section 1001 {(a)(2). The maximum Statutory penalty for Count
Tenisa fine of $250,000 and five (5) years imprisonment, and a period of supervised release.

The defendant understands that fees ‘may be imposed to pay for incarceration or
supervised release and that there will be a $100 special assessment per felony count of

conviction.
My 'counsel,'f ohn E. Lichtenstein, Bsquire and John P. Fishwick, Esquire, have

mnformed me of the nature of these charges and the elements of these charges which must be
proved by the United States beyond a reasonable doubt before | could be found guilty as

LG AL
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recognize that [ have the following constitutional rights and, that by voluntarily pleading
guilty, knowingly waive and give up these valuzble consiititional rights: '

a. "The night io plead not guilty and persist in that plea.

b. The right to a speedy and public jury trial.

¢. The right to assistance of counsel at that trial and in any subsequent:
appeal. : ' o '

The right to remain silent af trial

The right to testify at tral. _ .
Theright to confront and cross-examine government witnesses,

The right to present evidence and witnesses in my own behalf,

The right to compulsory process of the court. '

The right to be presumed innocent. - :

The right to a unanimous guilty verdict and for specific sentencing issues.
The right to appeal a guilty verdict and Sentencing issues. :

B =l I B R

' I admit that | amn pleading guilty as described above because I am in fact guilty and
“ because it is in my best interest to do so and not becau_se of any threats or promises. There

has béen no representation made whatsoever by any agent or employee of the United States

to me as to what the final disposition of this matter should or will be.

It is understood that the matter of sentencing is within the discretion of the Court,
subject to his consideration of federal law, the United States Sentencing Guidelines
~ (“Sentencing Guidelines™), and this Agreement. I understand that the Court mdy apply
Sentencing Guidelines to this case and may create a presumption of a mandatory period of
incarceration. Thave discussed sentencing issues with my attorneys and realize that there is
a possibility that T will be incarcerated. Iunderstand that I will not be eligible for parole
during ary term of imprisenment imposed. [ understand that the sentence will be determined
presumptively from a varety of factors involved in the offense andrelated conduct, including
my role m the offense and my prior criminal history. '

3. SENTENCING GUIDELINE PROVISIONS

The Government and I understand and agree to the following. The parties agree that the
2006 Sentencing Guideline Manual will be used for this case. The parties agree that -
Sentencing Guideline Section 2B1.1(a), with a base offense level of six (6), is applicable to
the defendant’s criminal conduct. The parties understand and agree that the amont of Loss
atiributable to the offense is between $5,000 and $10,800, and 13 the amount which is readily

provable by the United States ai this stage of the investigation, and, thersfore,

2B11(0){1)(B), which addg 1% () levels, is applicable to the defendant’s conduct. The
§ (b)( / PP
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parties agree that the defendant was an organizer, leader, manager, or supervisor in the

criminal activity, which adds two (2) levels pursuant to §3B1.1(c). The parties agres that the

defendant’s offense involved an abuse of trust, which-adds two (2} levels pursuantio §3B 1.3.
Ttis agreed there ars no other applicable eﬁanumenm to the guideline range in this case.

The defendant also agrees that the United States retains the night to argue for an
upward departure based on the Application Notes to USSG §2BI1.1. The Government
acknowledges that the defendant maintains the nszht to argue for a downward departure.

Ifa sentence of imprisonment is mmposed is done, the defendant understands that the
Unned States will not object to allowing him to self report to the Bureau of f Prisons to begin
the service of any séntence, provided that ke corplies with all terms and conditions of
release imposed by the Court and the United States Probation Office.

4.  DISMISSAL OF COUNTS

. The United States will move to dismiss the remammg counts in the Indictment. 1,
Harold Franklin Cassell, stipulate that the United States had probable cause to bring all the
counts in thé Indictment that are being dismissed nnder this. agreement, that none of the
cha:rges were frivolous, vexatious or brought i n bad taith, and that the defendant is not a

“prevailing party” with rega:fd the these Charges The defendant further waives any claim
for attorney's fees and other litigation expenses arising outofthe mvestloatlon or prosécirtion

. of this matter.

5. ACCEPTANCE OF R—ESPO_NSIBILITY

If, n fact, I accept responsibility for my actions, testify truthﬁﬂly if called upon to do -
s0, acknowledge factual guilt befors the Court at the time of my guilty plea and sentencing,
and fulfill the conditions of this plea agreement, I understand thatthe United States , through
its attorney, will recommend that the Court grant me a two (2) level reduction in my offense
level for acceptance of responsibility - under Guideline Section 3E1.1(a). I must clearly
demonstrate acceptance of re3pon51b1hty for my c:rnmnal offense

I understand that any attempt to deny that I committed the crime to which [ have
agreed to plead guilty, any attempt to withdraw my guilty ples, the conrmission of any new
crumes, or any otker breach of this Agreement, mcludlng my fallure to pay my mandatory

special assessment, will nullify the United States agreement that | should receive credit for

£ fatrr
aceeplance oL LcsuunLSLanLv
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6. MANDATORY ASSESSMIENT

I understand that persons convicted of crimes are required {0 pay 2 mandatory |
asse essment 0f $100.00 per felony count of conviction. I agres that I will submit a check or

money order for the total amount of the assessment in my case to the United States Attorney's
Office upon my acceptance of this plea agreement and upon retiurning to them a signed copy
of this plea agreement. I will rake the check or money order payable to Clerk, United
States District Court for the total amount of $100.00. The United States Attorney’s Office
may, at its option, withdraw from this plea agreement unless and until this payment is made.
Eurther, T understand and agree that if I fail to pay the special assessment on, or prior to, the
date of my sentencing, I will not have demonstrated minimal acceptance of responsfbﬂlty and
should not be granted any reduction in my offense level under the Sentencing Guidelines for

acceptance of responsibility.

7. DUTY TO PROVIDE FINANCIAL STATEMENT

I understand that in this case there is a possibility that substantial fines and/or
restitution may be imposed. In order to assist the United States as to any recommendation
in that matter and in order to assist the United States in any necessary collection of those

“sums, | agree to fully and truthfully submit a complete financial statement revealing all ofmy
assets and.liabilities to the United States on a form provided by the Unated States.

Within 30 days of the date of this Plea Agreement I agree to provide a complete

' financial statement to the United States Attomey’s office detailing all income, expenditures, -
assets, liabilities, gifts and conveyances by myself, my spouse and my dependent children and

" any corporation, partnership or other business entity in which I hold or have held an interest,
for the period starting on January 1st of the year prior to the vear I enter my guilty plea. This
financial statément shall be submitted in a form acceptable to the Umted States Attomey S

office.

From the time of the signing of this agreement, I'agree not to convey any thing of |
value to any person without the authorization of the United States Attorney's Office. T
understand that a deliberate false statement as to.these matters would be a felony under
federal law, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1001 and Section 401, and
could constitute 2 breach of the agreement by me and could render this Agresment null and
void, regardless of any cooperation or assistance that I may have previously provided. Any
~dispute as to the truthfulness of my disciosure of assets may be subjected to a polygraph
examinalion conducted by a qualified law enforcement examiner, selected by the United
States. I understand that failure of such polygraph examination, without adequate

sreement null and veid. '

%

explanation, could render this
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8.- WAIVER OF RIGHT TO APPEAL SE‘QTE\CI\{G GUIDELINES
ISSUES : ,

I understand that I will have a copy of my presentence report well in advance of my

sentencing hea.rmg and that [ will have an opportunity to go over it with my attorneys and -
may file any objection to all or parts of it that I feel are not correct. I understand that I will

have an opportunity at the sentencing hearing to bring witniesses, to cross-examine the
government's witnesses, and to demonstrate to the Court what an appropriate senterice would
be under the Guidelines. I agree that after my full and fair sentencing hearing, I will not then
appeal any sentencing guidelines factors or the Court's application of the sentencing

guidelines factors to the facts of my case. I am knowingly and voluntarily walving any right
to appeal sentencing guidelines factors, and am voluntarly willing to rely on the Court in .

-sentencing me. 1 understand that the United States expressly reserves its 11 ght to appeal any
Sentencing Guidelines issues. ‘

9.  WAIVER OF RIGHT TO COLLATERALLY ATTACK THE
JUDGMENT AND SENTENCE IMPOSED BY THE COURT

I furtber agree to waive my ng'ht to collaterally attack pursuant to Title 28, United
States Code, Section 2255, the judgment and any part of the sentence imposed upon me by

the Court

10 ]NFORMATION ACCESS WAIVER

I knowmgly and Voluntanly agree to waive all rights, whether ass erted directly or by
a representative, to request or receive from any department or agency of the United States
any records pertaining to the investigation or prosecution of this case, _Including without
limitation any records that may be sought under the Freedom of lnformatlon Act, 5 US.C.
§552, or the Privacy Act of 1974, 5 U.S.C. §552a. .

11. WAIVER OF WITNESS FEE

[ agree to waive a]l rights, claims or interest in any witness fee that T may be eligible
to receive pursuant to Title 28, United States Code, Section 1821, for my appearance at any
Grand Jury, witness conference or court proceeding during the pendency of this case.

12 WATIVER OF STATUTE OF LINMITATIONS

If, for any reason, this Plea Agreement is withdrawn or otherwise not consurnmated
by the entry of the convictions and sentences provided for under this Plea Agreement or if
this Agreement 1s set as/i 5By dny court, [ hereby waive my right to raise the defense of the
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statufc of limitations as to any charges reinstated befo ¢ the Court which were brotght in the
[ndictment against me but disimissed as a result of this Plea Agreement. :

13. COMPLETION OF PROSECUTION

lunderstand that except as provided for in this plea agreement, there will be no further
prosecution 6f me for any matters about which the United States has knowledge gamed from
the investigation that gave rise to the charges contained in this Indictrnent. -

14.  LIMITATION OF AGREEMENT
" This agreement is limited to the charges contained in the Indictment.

15. KEMEDIES FOR BREACH OF PLEA AGREEMENT

I understand that if I breach any provision of this agreement, at any time, including
any, attempt to withdraw my guilty plea, the United States Attorney's office may, at its
election, pursue any or all ofthe following remedies: (a) declare this pleaagreement void and

- proceed to trial; (b) refuse to recommend that I be credited with acceptance of réspoasibﬂity;
(¢) seek an upward departure from the guidelines range, or seek imposition of a sentence at
the high end of the guidelines range; (d) terminate my opportunity to perform substantial
assistance, if such opportunity has been provided, or refuse to make a substantial assistance
motion, regardless of whether substantial assistance has been performed or not; (e) withdraw
a:tiy substantial assistance motion made, regardless of whether substantial assistance hasbeen
performed; (f) refuse to z_tb"ide by any other sentencing or other stipulations contained jn this

- plea agreement; (g) use this plea agreement, any statement [ have made during any guilty plea

- hearing (including my admission of guilt), any proffer $€s8101m, OF dun'ng my atternpt to
provide substantial assistance, against me in this or any other proceeding; and (h) take any
other action provided for under this agreement or by statute, regulation or court rule. T -
knowingly waive any right I may have under the Constitution, any statute, rule or other
source of law to have any statement, or evidence derived from such statement, suppressed
or excluded from going into evidence. The remedies set forth above are cumulative, and not

mutually exclusive. : ’

16.  EFFECTIVE REPRESENTATION -

I have discussed the terms of the foregoing plea agreément and all matters pertaining
to the cherges against me with my attorney and am satisfied with my attorney and his advice.
I understand that T have the right to malke known to the Court, at any tine, any dissatisfaction
I may have with moy attorney's representation. I agree to make known to the Court 1o later
than at the tume of sentencing any dissatisfaction or complaint I may have with my atiomey's

representation. [ hereby waive any claim I may have for neffective assistance of counsel

7/
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known and not raised by me with the Court ai the time of sentencing.

17.  GENERAL UNDERSTANDINGS

1 understand that the Court is not bound by any recommendations or
stipulations contained in this Agreement, and may sentence me up to the maximum
provided by law. ' ; -

I understand that if the sentence is more severe than I expected, I will have no right
~ to withdraw my guilty plea. _ ' '

I understand that a thorough presentence mvestigation will be conducted and’
sentencing recommendations independent of the United States Attorney's Office will be made -
by the presentence preparer, which the Court may adopt or take into consideration. I
understand that any calculation regarding the guidelines by the United.States Attomney's
Office or by my attorney is specuiati_ve and is not binding upon the Court, the Probation
Office or the United States Attorney's Office. No guarantee has been made by the United
States Attorney’s Office regarding the effect of the guidelines on my case.

T'anderstand that the prosecution will be free to allocuie or describe the nature of this
offense and the evidence in this case and will in all h’kelﬂ_}ood recommend that § receive a

substantial sentence. :

funderstand that the United States retains the right, notwithstanding any provision in
this plea agreement, to inform the probation office and the Court-of all relevant facts, to”
address the Court with respect to the nature and seriousness of the offense, 1o respond to any
questions raised by the Court, to correct any inaccuracies or inadequacies in the presentence
report and to-respond to any statements made to the Court by or on behalf of the defendant.

[understand that the United States will object to any downward departure from the
sentencing guidelines, absent the filing of a motion permitting downward departure under
Sentencing Guideline Section 5K.1.1, Title 18, United States Code, Section 3553(e) and/or .
Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure 35(b). ' .

: I willingly stipulate that there is a sufhicient factual basis to support each and every
material factual allegation contained within the count to which I am pleading guilty.

I understand that this agreement does not apply 1o any crimes that | may commit
hereatfter, including perjury. Tunderstand that if T should testify falsely in this or in a related
proceeding that [ may be prosecuted for perjury and that statements that | may have given
pement may be used against me i such a procesding,

BT

authoritieS pursuani to this
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I'have not been coerced, threatened, or promised anyihing other than the terms ofthis
plea agreement, described above, in exchange for my plea of guilty. T understand that my
attorney will be free to argue any mitigating factors in iy behalf and will be free to Propose

- any altemnatives to incarceration available under the sentencing guidelines. Junderstand that
I'will have an opportunity to personally address the Court prior to sentence being imposed.

This writing sets forth the entire understanding between the parties and constifutes
the complete Plea Agreement between the United States Attomney for the Western District
of Virginia-and me, and no other additional *erms or agreements shall be entered except and
unless-those other terms or Agresments are-in writing and signed by the parties. This Plea

Agreement supersedes all prior understandings, promises, agreements, or conditions, if any;
between the United States and me. : )

I have consulted with my attorney and fully understand all my rights with respect to
the offenses charged in the pending information. Further, I have consulted with my attornay
and fully understand my rights with respect to the provisions of the Guidelines . L have read
 this plea agreement and carefully reviewed every part of it with my attorney. I uriderstand
this agreement and I voluntarily agree to it. B cing aware of all of the possible cons equences
of my plea, I have independently decided to enter this plea of my own free will, and am -
affirming that agreemert on this date and by my signature below. . '

e 5/22/07
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We represent Harold Franklin Cassell. We have fully explained to our client all

rights available to our client with res
Further, we have reviewed the

pect o the offenses charged in the pendmg mformation.
provisions of those Guidelines which may apply in this case.
We have carcfully reviewed every pari of this plea agreement with my client. To our -

knowledge, our client's decision to enter into this agreement s an informed and voluntary one

and it is a decision with which We agree.

At

b §123/07

Aéknowledged:

- John E. Li

A-Da-te: 6—./234 7
A4

Date: %:07
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Counsel for*Defendant

/ﬂ/ jépéw
John P.-mw_ick, Esquire
Counsel for Defendant

elip P

JolL. Brownlee ,
United States Attorney

Thomas J. Bonduragt, Jr:
Criminal Chief
Assistant United States Attorney
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